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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK

ANGELA TESE-MILNER as CHAPTER 7
TRUSTEE OF THE ESTATE OF W.B.
DAVID & CO.,INC.,

Plaintiff, 04 Civ. 5203 (KMW)
QPINION & ORDER

-against-

DIAMOND TRADING COMPANY, LTD.,
Defendant.

Wood, U.S.D.J.

On April 13, 2010, Plaintiff Angela Tese-MilnerRlaintiff”), as Chapter 7 Trustee of the
Estate of W.B. David & Co., Inc. (“W.B. Dai), filed a Second Amended Complaint (“SAC”)
in the above-captioned action, alleging, inter,alialations of various fgeral and state antitrust
laws. (Dkt. No. 262.) Defendant Diamondad@ing Company, Ltd. Piamond Trading” or
“Defendant”) moves to dismiss the SAC for failtioestate a claim pursuant to Federal Rule of
Civil Procedure 12(b)(6) (“Rul&2(b)(6)"). (Dkt. No. 276)

For the reasons stated below, the Cguaints Defendant’s motion to dismiss.

Factual and Procedur al Background*

W.B. David was a corporation located in New York, New York. Diamond Trading is
incorporated in the United Kingdom. (SA®Y Diamond Trading is a member of a group of

companies affiliated with the De Beers Group (‘Beers” or “De Beers Group”). De Beersis a

L A court considering a 12(b)(6) motion must “acceal]well-pleaded allegations in the complaint as
true, drawing all reasonable inferences in the pfisfavor.” Operating Local 649 Annuity Trust Fund
v. Smith Barney Fund Mgmt., LL,G95 F.3d 86, 91 (2d Cir. 2010).

1

Dockets.Justia.com


http://dockets.justia.com/docket/new-york/nysdce/1:2004cv05203/251442/
http://docs.justia.com/cases/federal/district-courts/new-york/nysdce/1:2004cv05203/251442/286/
http://dockets.justia.com/

group of related companies involved in thedarction, purchase, asdle of rough diamonds,

which are diamonds that have not been cytadished. (SAC 1%-10.) From 1969 to 2003,

W.B. David was a De Beers’ Sightholder—a company selected by De Beers to purchase and sell
De Beers’ rough diamonds. (SAC | 3.)

A. Original Complaint

On July 1, 2004, W.B. David filed a 140-pageddral Complaint (“*OC) in this action,
asserting 36 claims against over 100 defendardisiding Diamond Trading. (Dkt. No. 1.) The
OC alleged that De Beers controlled therld diamond market and was engaged in
anticompetitive conduct affecting the United 8satarkets for rough and polished diamonds.
The OC'’s allegations focused on two categories of conduct.

First, the OC focused on the SupplielGifoice program, a program that De Beers
introduced in 2003 to select its Sightholdeffie OC stated that, on June 3, 2003, Diamond
Trading had informed W.B. Daviby letter that it did not qu&i as a Sightholder under Supplier
of Choice, and that it would loses Sightholder status after afsitional six-month period (i.e.
after December 2003). The OC glel that De Beers terminated W.B. David as a Sightholder
after De Beers used the Supplier of Ch@oagram to reduce the number of Sightholders,
thereby restricting the supply of diamonds te tharket and raising diamond prices. Second, the
OC stated that De Beers had stolen from VIDBvid a proprietary diamond marketing campaign
titled “Leading Jewelers of the World” (“LIJW”")The OC alleged that these two categories of
conduct by De Beers—the Supplier of Choice Program and the LJW campaign—violated: (1)
federal and state antitrust lawrsgluding Sections 1 and 2 of the Sherman Act, 15 U.S.C. 881 &

2; (2) Racketeering Influenced and Corr@oganizations Act; and (3) state common law.



On January 25, 2006, unsecured creditord fle involuntary Chapter 7 bankruptcy
petition against W.B. David in the United StaBsmkruptcy Court for th&outhern District of
New York (the “Bankruptcy Court”). The Baruptcy Court entered an order of relief on
February 8, 2006, and appointed Angela Tese-MiRkxintiff) as Trustee of the W.B. David
Estate. (SAC 11 4-5.)

B. AmendedComplaint

On July 11, 2007, Plaintiff filed an 11-pagenended Complaint (“AC”), omitting all but
seven of the original defendantkt. No. 151.) In the ACRlaintiff brought claims against
Diamond Trading and six other companies allegeeligted to De BeersPlaintiff abandoned all
of the OC’s specific allegatns regarding the Supplier Ghoice program and the LIW
campaign. Instead, the AC alleged that e is involved in “an amorphous, world-wide
conspiracy with unnamed co-conspiratorsadatrol the global diamond market.” SEese-

Milner v. Diamond Trading CpNo. 04 cv. 05203, at 27 (S.D.N.Y. Feb. 24, 2010). The AC

alleged that De Beers’ mondpstic conduct has anticompetitive effects in the diamond market
and violates Sections 1 anPthe Sherman Act and Secti840 of the Donnelly Act. _(19l.

In September 2007, certain defendants filed a motion to dismiss the AC for failure to
state a claim, pursuant to Rule 12(b)(6) hé&tdefendants (the “Jurisdictional Defendants”)
moved to dismiss the AC for lack of personaigdiction, pursuant to Federal Rule of Civil
Procedure 12(b)(2), and for insufficient serviceordcess pursuant to Federal Rule of Civil
Procedure 12(b)(5). (Dkt. Nos. 154 & 162.)

On January 23, 2009, this Court issued anraaddressing the Jurisdictional Defendants’

motion to dismiss. Sekese-Milner v. De Beers Centepa.G., et al. (“Tese-Milner 17)613 F.




Supp. 2d 404 (S.D.N.Y. 2009Y.he Court found, inter aljghat Plaintiff had made a sufficient
start toward a showing of jurisdictipand allowed jurisdictional discovery.

On August 31, 2009, after the completion ofgdictional discoveryRlaintiff moved for
leave to file a Second Amended Complaint purst@fiederal Rule of Civil Procedure 15(a).
(Dkt. No. 235.) Defendants opposed that motiod eross-moved to dismiss the AC pursuant to
Rule 12(b)(6). The Jurisdictional Defendants also renewed their motion to dismiss. (Dkt. Nos.
238 & 240.)

On February 24, 2010, the Court issa@&dopinion and order, inter aliel) granting the

Jurisdictional Defendants’ motion to dismiss &@; (2) denying Plaintiff's motion for leave to
amend; and (3) granting defendsinhotion to dismiss the AC pursuant to Rule 12(b)(6). See

Tese-Milner v. Diamond Trag Co. (Tese-Milner Il)No. 04 cv. 05203 (S.D.N.Y. Feb. 24,

2010); see alsbkt. Nos. 259 & 267. The Court held that, because the AC omitted “almost all
of the OC’s factual allegations,” and insteadadtriced a new set of operative facts, the AC did
not relate back to the OC for staudf limitations purposes. Tese-Milnerali 27. The Court
noted that there was “not a single referenaténAC to the Supplier [of] Choice Program or De
Beers’ U.S. marketing, adveliitig, or retail claims.”_Id.The Court thusound that the AC'’s
claims were limited to conduct that occurredoorafter February 8, 2002—which is four years
prior to the filing of the AC and an additidrtavo years from the order of relief in the

bankruptcy proceeding, which wantered on February 8, 2006The Court also found that the

2 The original Opinion and Order was filed under seaMarch 1, 2010. (Dkt. No. 259.) A redacted
version of the Opinion and Order was filggblicly on May 14, 2010. (Dkt. No. 267.)

% The statute of limitations for Sherman Act claimfoisr years, accruing when the defendant commits an
act that injures the plaintiff. 15 U.S.C. 8 15b. &Nta plaintiff files for bankruptcy, the statute of
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Plaintiff had failed to: (1) ideify specific conduct by Diamond &ding that violated antitrust
laws; (2) allege an agreement betw&amond Trading and a non-De Beers Group
organization; and (3) allege daeant market in which the aduct had occurred. Finally, the
Court held that Plaintif€ould replead her claims against Diamond Trading. Tese-Milner |l
at 36 (“If Plaintiff can make ounore specific, factual allegans about the role of Diamond
Trading in De Beers’ allegadonopoly, however, then Plaintifiay be able to state a claim
against the company.”).

C. Second Amended Complaint

On April 13, 2010, Plaintiff filed the inaht SAC, asserting the following: (1)
combination and conspiracy to restrain tradeiatation of Section bf the Sherman Act, 15
U.S.C. § 1; (2) monopolization in violation oé&ion 2 of the Sherman Act, 15 U.S.C. § 2; (3)
attempt to monopolize in vidian of Section 2 of the Shman Act; (4) conspiracy to
monopolize under Sectiond® the Sherman Act; (5) combinati and conspiracy to restrain
trade in violation of the Wilsoiariff Act, 15 U.S.C. § 8 et. sefthe “Wilson Act”); and (6)
combination and conspiracy to monopolize aestrain trade in violation of the Donnelly
Antitrust Act, N.Y. Gen. Bus. Law § 34the “Donnelly Act”). (SAC 11 123-161.)

The SAC challenges four cagtaries of alleged conduct by feadant. First, Plaintiff
asserts that Defendant horizdhtaiestrained the supply inéhU.S. rough diamond market, in
violation of Section 1 of the Sherman Act,@avhmembers of the Cigeers Group entered into
agreements with ALROSA, a Russian diamamding company and a competitor of the De

Beers Group. (SAC 11 35-47.) Second, Plainiffiesits that Defendant vertically restrained

limitations is tolled for two years from the date ttieg bankruptcy court files the order for relief. 11
U.S.C. § 108(a).
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trade, in violation of Section df the Sherman Act, by entering into curtailment agreements with
De Beers Consolidated Mines, Ltd. (“DBCMa member of the De Beers Group, and by
entering into sales agreements with the @Gowvent of Botswana. (SAC 1 48-62.) Third,
Plaintiff challenges various elements of Defant’s advertising and marketing campaigns,
including its U.S. Carat Club, and its Deds Limited Edition of Millennium Diamonds
Campaign (“Millennium Campaign,’gs violations of Section@ the Sherman Act. (SAC 1
68-94.) Finally, Plaintiff reswects her claims related Refendant’s Supplier of Choice
program that were included in the OC, butinahe AC. Plaintiff #eges that the program
violated Section 2 of the Shean Act. (SAC 11 95-122.)

On May 7, 2010, Defendant moved to dismiss3AC pursuant to Rule 12(b)(6). (Dkt.
No. 264.) Defendant asserts thta SAC fails to allege argpecific, actionable conduct by
Defendant. Defendant also assehat the conduct atbed by Plaintiff as unlawful falls outside
of the applicable limitations period. SpecificalBgfendant contends thBtaintiff must allege
wrongful conduct by Defendant thtaiok place between FebruaBy2002, the limitations period
identified in the Court’s February 24, 20apinion dismissing the AC, and December 2003,
when W.B. David ceased to be a Sightholdafith respect to that latter date, Defendant
contends that Plaiifif may assert only those claims thaé drased on purchases that it made as a
Sightholder, because Plaintiff’'s non-Sightholdiims (all claims arising after 2003, when
Plaintiff's Sightholder status wasrminated) are covered by a classion settlement release in a

related case, Sullivan v. DB In\Wo. 04 cv. 2819 (D.N.J. June 14, 2004) (the “Sullivan

release”).
The Sullivanrelease covers two settlement classes: the Direct Purchaser Class and the

Indirect Purchaser Class. The Direct PuseaClass includes all pons who purchased a
6



rough or polished diamond directly from a deferidarcluding any affiliate of a defendant, or a
defendant’s competitor. The Indirect PurediaClass includes persons who purchased a rough
or polished diamond from someone other thaefandant, an affiliate of a defendant, or a
defendant’s competitof‘s.PIaintiff admits to being a member of both settlement classes. See
Letter for John A. Wait, August 12, 2010.

The Release contains an exception foradipeirchaser claims of Sightholders. 2@e.
Settlement Agreement 8 V(A) (“Nothing in thet®ment is intended to release any direct
purchaser claim of any Sightholder.”AA “sightholder” is defined a% customer . . . entitled to
purchase Rough Diamonds from [De Beers Defetg]as a regularly scheduled Sight or
Sights,” and, “Sightholder stattasrminates when [this right] . . . terminates.” ati8I(PP).

The parties agree that, should the Sulligatilement remain in effetthe Sullivan

release covers all of Plaintiff's claims agaiBDgfendant except any ctas arising out of W.B.

* The Sullivarrelease provides that:

Upon the Effective Date, the Released Partiel bhaeleased and forever discharged from any

and all claims, causes of action, demands, riglations, suits and requests for equitable, legal

and administrative relief of any kind or natureatgoever . . . that any member of the Settlement
Classes who has not timely excluded himself, heosatself from the action, ever had, could

have had, now has, or can, shall or may have in the future . . . concerning the exploration, mining,
processing, treatment, sorting, distribution, marketing, advertising, sale or pricing of any

Diamond Product, including but not limited to (iii) methods of distribution or distribution

programs of any Diamond Product (including but not limited to the Supplier of Choice program)
including all means of selling or distributing any Diamond Product. . . ."

Am. Settlement Agreement § V(A).

®>On July 13, 2010, a three-judge panel from thiedT@ircuit Court of Appeals vacated the settlement
approval on grounds relating to classtifieation. Sullivan v. DB Inv,.613 F.3d 134 (3d Cir. 2010). On
August 27, 2010, the Third Circuitayrted a petition by the class-action plaintiffs for a rehearing en banc
and vacated the Third Circuit’s July 13, 2010 opinion. Sullivan v. DB 612 F.3d 287 (3d Cir. 2010).
Oral argument was held on February 23, 2011, but the encbarichas not yet issued a decision.




David’s purchases asSightholder._Se&ohn A. Wait Letter, Aug. 12, 2010; see algse-

Milner 1, 613 F. Supp. 2d at 409 (“The pastagree that the settlemdintits Plaintiff's claims
in the instant case to those based on W.B. Dayurchases as a Sightholder . . . .”).

On September 14, 2010, the Court issaredrder denying Defendant’s motion to
dismiss the SAC without prejudicen the basis that the partiesdhasufficiently briefed several
issues. (Dkt. No. 275.) The Court granted Defahtizave to refile itgnotion and ordered that
the parties submit supplemental briefing on tHeWang three issues: (1) whether any specific

factual allegations in the SAC relate back t® @C; (2) whether Plairitis Supplier of Choice

claims are covered by the Sulliveglease; and (3) whether Plafif'e Supplier of Choice claims
are barred by the statudélimitations or, alternatively, whieer they relate back to the OC,
notwithstanding the fact that theyere dropped from the AC._()d.

On October 22, 2010, Defendant refiled its motio dismiss. The parties have filed
supplemental briefs responding to the Cauéptember 14, 2010 order. (Dkt. No. 276.)

. L egal Standard: Motion to Dismiss

In order to survive a Rule 12(b)(6) moti@plaintiff must havepleaded sufficient

factual allegations “to state a claim to reliedittis plausible on itsate.” Bell Atl. Corp. v.

Twombly, 550 U.S. 544, 570 (2007). A claim is fdiglausible “when tle plaintiff pleads
factual content that allows the court to draw thasonable inference that the defendant is liable

for the misconduct alleged.” Ashcroft v. IghalU.S. --, 129 S. Ct. 1937, 1949 (2009). Where

a plaintiff has not “nudged [his t¥er] claims across the line frooonceivable to plausible, [the]
complaint must be dismissed.” TwompBb0 U.S. at 570. The Court must accept as true all
well-pleaded factual allegations in the complaint, and “draw] ] all inferences in the plaintiff's

favor.” Allaire Corp. v. OkumusA33 F.3d 248, 249-50 (2d CR006) (internal quotations
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omitted). However, “the tenet that a court mastept as true all of the allegations contained in
a complaint is inapplicable to legal conclusions.” IghaB S. Ct. at 1949. “Threadbare recitals
of the elements of a cause of action, suppdrtechere conclusory statements, do not suffice.”
Id.

There is no heightened pleading regment in antitrust cases. SBeombly v. Bell Atl.

Corp, 425 F.3d 99, 108-09 (2d Cir. 2005), rewd other grounds, 550 U.S. 544 (2007) (“We
have consistently rejected the argument . at aimtitrust complaints merit a more rigorous
pleading standard.”).

[1. L egal Standard: Sherman Act Claims

Plaintiff brings claimaunder Sections 1 and 2 of the Sherman Act.

A. Section 1 of the Sherman Act

Section 1 of the Sherman Act makes it illega¢tder into a “contract, combination . . . or
conspiracy” to restrain trade or commerce.U1S.C. 8 1. To properly plead a violation of
Section 1, a plaintiff must alledgbat (1) defendants were involveda contract, combination or

conspiracy that (2) operated ursenably to restrain interstate trade. In re Elevator Antitrust

Litig., No. 04 cv. 1178, 2006 WL 1470994, at *7 (DY. May 30, 2006) (Greisa, J.). The

bare assertion of a conspirasynot enough to survive a Rul@(b)(6) motion to dismiss; the
complaint must contain “enough factual matter (taketrue) to suggest that an agreement [to
restrain trade] was made.” TwombB50 U.S. at 556. A well-pleaded complaint should include
specific, factual allegations as to “the identities of theamspirators, the nature of their
conspiracy, how the participaratempted to accomplish their objees, and what overt acts . .

. they performed . . . .”_Mathias v. Daily News, L.F52 F. Supp. 2d 465, 484 (S.D.N.Y. 2001)

(Marrero, J.). “[U]nspecified contracts wittnnamed other entities &zhieve unidentified
9



anticompetitive effects does not meet the mumn standards of pleading a conspiracy in

violation of the Sherman Act.”_Gdmian v. Universal Res. Holding In&24 F.2d 223, 230 (3d

Cir. 1987).

Section 1 does not covethaily unilateral action._SeBordon v. Lewiston Hosp423

F.3d 184, 207 (3d Cir. 2005) (“Unilateral actiomply does not support liability; there must be
a unity of purpose or a common design and unaeding or a meeting of the minds in an
unlawful arrangement.”) (internal gtations and citations omittedJ.o state a claim pursuant to

the section a plaintiff must allege concertedaacby two or more “legally distinct economic

entities.” _Primetime 24 Joint Venture v. Nat'l Broad. 1.9 F.3d 92, 103 (2d Cir. 2000).

B. Section 2 of the Sherman Act

Section 2 of the Sherman Act makes it illefga an individual to monopolize a market.
15 U.S.C. 8 2. To state a clashmonopolization pursuamo Section 2, a platiff must allege
that the defendant (1) possesses monopoly povaeratevant market; (2) willfully acquired or

maintained that power; and (3) engaged in anti-competitive behavior. Invamed, Inc. v. Barr

Labs., Inc. 22 F. Supp. 2d 210, 218 (S.DYN 1998) (Sweet, J.).

A relevant market is comprised of theguct market and geographic market in which

the defendant allegedly exercises monopoly pov@reen City Pizza, Inc. v. Domino’s Pizza,

Inc., 124 F.3d 430, 442 (3d Cir. 1997). A productkeaincludes all products that are
reasonably interchangeable, which requires coresider of the cross-eléisity of demand (that
is, the extent to which a change in the pa€ene product will altethe demand for another
product). Idat 436. A geographic market is the geobrap@rea in which competition occurs.

Heerwagen v. Clear Channel Comm¢'A85 F.3d 219, 227-31 (2d Cir. 2006). The allegation of

a relevant market is a “prerequisite” to a Section 2 claim. PalartyC v. Videsh Sanchar
10




Nigam, Ltd, No. 04 cv. 9578, 2006 WL 2266351, at *6 (DY. Aug. 7, 2006) (Greisa, J.).
Determining a relevant market can be a fact-isiteninquiry, and thusaairts often hesitate to

dismiss a claim for failing to adequatelypl a relevant market. Todd v. Exxon CoP75 F.3d

191, 199-200 (2d Cir. 2001). “There is, however, neodlie rule against [ ] dismissal”’ on such
a ground._ldat 200.

Section 2 also prohibits conspties between two or more persons to monopolize. To
plead that a defendant was invalva a conspiracy to monopolize plaintiff must sufficiently
allege (1) that the defendant entered into cdadeaction with the spectfintent of achieving a
monopoly, and (2) the commission of overt actirtherance of the conspiracy. 3aél

Distib. Ctrs., Inc. v. Walsh Trucking C@812 F.2d 786, 795-96 (2d Cir. 1987); Invamed,,|B2.

F. Supp. 2d at 220. To survive a motion to disnassantitrust plaintiff mst allege facts “that
reasonably tend[ ] to prove that the [defenflant *had a conscious commitment to a common

scheme designed to achieve an unlawful obje¢tidonsanto Co. v. Spray-Rite Serv. Carp.

465 U.S. 752, 764 (1984) (citations omitted).

V. Analysis

For the reasons that follow, the Court grants Defendant’s motion to dismiss.

A. Claims Related to thSupplier of Choice Program

Plaintiff brings claims arising out of Dendant’s Supplier of Choice program, through
which W.B. David was terminateas a Sightholder. (SAC 11 95-12ZP)aintiff alleges that the
program violated Section 2 of the Sherman Bextause its purpose “was to increase market
demand for diamonds in general and to increase market demand for De Beers’ diamonds in

particular.” (1d.7 96.)

11



The Court dismisses Plaintiff's claims thmatate to the Supplier of Choice program,
because those claims have been abandoned andtfitle the applicable statute of limitations
for actions under the Sherman Act.

1. Legal Standard: Statute ohhitations for Sherman Act Claims

The statute of limitations for Sherman Ataims (as well as Donnelly Act and Wilson
Act claims) is four years, accruing when the defemdammits an act that injures the plaintiff.

15 U.S.C. § 15b; see aldbY. Gen. Bus. Law § 340(5). the case of a continuing antitrust

conspiracy, the statute of limitations restartdhattime of each overt act that is part of the

violation and that injres the plaintiff._Klehr v. A.O. Smith Corb21 U.S. 179, 189 (1997).

Although for some antitrust cases, a continuing ®wf conduct can give rise to continually
accruing causes of action, there is no continuing varatthen the initial refusal to deal is final.

David Orgell, Inc. v. Geary’s Stores, In640 F.2d 936, 938 (9th Cir. 1981) (statute of

limitations starts to run at theiiiial refusal to sell); see algehillip E. Areeda and Herbert

Hovenkamp, Antitrust Lavf 320c3 (3d. ed. 2007) (“More thalmost any other plaintiff, the

victim of a direct refusal tdeal knows immediately thathas occurred. . . .").

An amended complaint relates back to the filing of the original complaint for statute of
limitations purposes where “the amendment assedaim or defensedharose out of the
conduct, transaction, or occurrence set out -attempted to be set out — in the original
pleading.” Fed. R. Civ. P. 15(c)(b)( To determine whether relation back is appropriate, courts

consider whether the original complaint gavedb&endant adequate notiockthe matters raised

in the amended pleading. Schiavone v. Fortdii@ U.S. 21, 31 (1986). An amended complaint
relates back if it neders previous allegations more defirated precise, but not if it introduces a

new set of operative facts. Slayton v. Am. Express 4&f) F.3d 215, 228 (2d Cir. 2006). Even
12




where an amended complaint tracks the legal thefttye original complaint, claims based on
an entirely distinct set of facal allegations do not relate back for purposes of Rule 15. Bank of

Brussels Lambert v. Chase Manhattan Bawd 93 Civ. 5298, 1999 WL 672302, at *2

(S.D.N.Y. Aug. 27, 1999) (McKenna, J.) (stating tthegre is no relation back if the amendment
sets forth a “separatets® operative facts”).

When an amended pleading relates back teaaler pleading, it will be deemed to have
been filed on the date of the earlier pleading. When an amended pleading de&gabiack to

an original pleading, it will be deemed to bedilen its actual filing dateln re Noah Educ.

Holdings, Ltd. Sec. Litig.No. 08 Civ. 9203, 2010 WL 1372709,*8t10 (S.D.N.Y. Mar. 31,
2010) (Sullivan, J.).
2. Analysis

The Court finds that Plaintiff, having a@oned her Supplier of Choice program claims
in her AC, is not permitted to resurrect those claims by filing her SAC.

The OC, filed on July 1, 2004, assertedrolaiunder the Sherman Act based on an
alleged plot by the De Beers Group to incratseontrol over the U.S. diamond market through
the Supplier of Choice program, resulting in WIEvid’s termination as a Sightholder.

Over three years later, on July 11, 2007, Plaintiff filed her AC, in which she omitted the
factual allegations involving theupplier of Choice program, andstead asserted claims based
an alleged broad-based conapi to control the diamond indeg. Because there was not a
single reference to the Suppl@f Choice Program in the AGhe Court, in its opinion
dismissing the AC, found that the AC introducemksv set of operative fagtand therefore, did
not relate back to the OC. _S€&ese-Milner llat 27-28. The Court permitted Plaintiff to replead

only the claims against Defendant Diamond Tradingyrder to allege witlyreater particularity
13



her conspiracy claim against Diamond Trading. i8@e@dentifying Plaintiff's fundamental

flaws in her AC, including her failure to (identify specific conduct by Diamond Trading that
violated antitrust law; (2) bdge an agreement between Diamond Trading and a non-De Beers
Group Entity; and (3) allege relevant market).

Another three years lateyn April 13, 2010, Plaintiff filed her SAC. In the SAC,

Plaintiff did not allege with great particularity the broad-basednspiracy claims that she had
alleged in her AC. Rather, she resurrected her Supplier of Choice claims, claims that she had
abandoned three years earlier, and claims witith Defendant had not been presented for
nearly six years.

There is nothing in the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure that allows a plaintiff to
resurrect once-abandoned claims by (1) filingtear complaint; (2) including those abandoned
claims in that new complaint; and (3) conterglthat the new complaint relates back to the
original complaint. Plaintiff nevertheless aske Court to find that she did not abandon her
Supplier of Choice claims, because those claiomgained in the SAC relate back to the OC,
notwithstanding the fact th#étose claims were dropped entirely from the AElere, Plaintiff

alleged a set of facts in her original complathd not include those facts in an amended

® Plaintiff does not dispute that, absent relatianky her Supplier of Choice claims are barred by the
statute of limitations. In the SAC, Plaintiff states that, on or about July 12, 2000, the De Beers group
launched the Supplier of Choice program, which alténedvay in which its Sightholders were selected.
(SAC 1 95.) On June 3, 2003, W.B. David watfigal that it failed to qualify as a Sightholder under the
Supplier of Choice program._(1§.109). After a six-month transition period (i &fter December 2003),
W.B. David ceased being a Sightholder, and was mgeloable to able to purchase rough diamonds from
Defendant. (Id. At that point, W.B. David’s terminationas final; Plaintiff does not allege any attempt
by W.B. David to regain its Sightholder status. Thu&sed on a straightforward application of the statute
of limitations, Plaintiff should have brought claims related to the Supplier of Choice program within four
years after W.B. David learned that it would no longer be a Sightholdebyi.éune 2007, and certainly

no later than four years after its actual termination as a Sightholddbyileecember 2007. The SAC

was not filed until April 2010.

14



complaint filed three years later, and then, alraosither three years later, attempted to resurrect
the original set of facts in heecond amended complaint. Ptdfns thus asking the Court to
find that the Supplier of Choice afas in the third complaint relate back to the first complaint,
even though they were omitted from the second complaint.

The Court rejects this argumeriRelation-back cannot be usasla mechanism to revive

abandoned claim$. Cf. Vogel v. Am. Kiosk Mgmt. 371 F. Supp. 2d 122, 129-30 (D. Conn.

2005) (“In many instances the procedure for, difeteof, an amendment will be the same as a
voluntary dismissal under 41(a)(1) because efsimilarities between the governing rule$.”):;

Hollenberg v. AT&T Corp.No. 95 Civ. 9515, 2001 WL 1518271, at *2 (S.D.N.Y. Nov. 28,

2001) (McKenna, J.) (“[Dliscontinuance does nditttee statute of lintations.”) (citations
omitted).

Plaintiff asserts that she never expressihavew any claims, but rather, amended her
pleadings. Plaintiff characterizesr amendments as changes “galetheory.” (Pl. Supp. Br. at
2,5n.1.) Inthe AC, however, Plaintiff did renply change her legal theory. Rather, she

pleaded an entirely differeset of operative fact® support her claim fantitrust injury. The

OC'’s allegations concerning the Supplier dfo@e program focused on the harm suffered by

" If the Court were to take Plaintiff's argumentitdextreme conclusion, a plaintiff would be permitted,
for example, to file a complaint alleging a breaclearftract claim based on one set of facts, file dozens
of amended complaints alleging breach of contact claims based on entirely different sets of facts, and
then, twenty-years later, file a complaint allegingr@ach of contact claim based on the original set of
facts, asserting that the newest complaint relatels foethe original compint, simply because the

original complaint contained those same facts. Tiwtltrés clearly not envisaged by the Federal Rules of
Civil Procedure.

8 Vogelis distinguishable from the instant facts, because, in Vueplaintiff expressed intent to
withdraw certain claims in an opposition to a motiomismiss, rather than amend her complaint.
Nevertheless, the Vogdecision makes clear that when a giffimakes an affirmative decision to no
longer pursue certain claims, that decision is &k a voluntary dismissal of those claims.
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W.B. David as a result of it being deprivedtsfSightholder status. €1OC sought damages for
a period of time followingV.B. David’s termination aa Sightholder in 2003. The AC, in
contrast, focused on an alleged conspitastyveen the De Beers Group and unidentified
coconspirators. The AC sought damafiem a period of time prior to 2008uring which W.B.
David was a Sightholder and was allegduiyng forced to overpay for diamonds.

The Federal Rules of Civil Procedure allow fioe relation back of claims only when the

court is confident that the deféant has notice of those claimSeeBridgeway Corp. v.

Citibank, N.A, 132 F. Supp. 2d 297, 301 (S.D.N.Y. 2001) (Chin, J.) (“Under Rule 15(c), the

essential inquiry in determining whether the new allegations relate back is whether the defendant
was given adequate notice that such clainghtrbe made upon examining the facts alleged in
the original pleading.”) (quotatns and citations omitted). Plafhtontends that the OC put
Defendant on notice of her Supplier of Choice claif&intiff is correcthat the Defendant was
on notice of the Supplier @hoice claims while the OC was pending. However, by not
including the Supplier of Choiadaims in her AC, Defendant was no longer on notice of those
claims. When Plaintiff chosot to include her Supplier &@hoice claims in her AC, it was
reasonable for Defendant to belighat Plaintiff no longer wishetb pursue a cause of action for
antitrust injury based on the apéive facts surrounding the Supplaf Choice program. As a
result, for nearly three years between the fibighe AC and the filing of the SAC, Defendant
was likely preparing to defend against claims arising out of a different set of operative facts.
(SeeDef. Supp. Reply Mem. at 10.) The intervening complaint—the AC—essentially resulted

in there being a lack of notice to Defendant wébkpect to Plaintiff's @plier of Choice claims.
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Accordingly, it would be highlyrejudicial to allow Plaintiff to relate back those claims that she
abandoned nearly ke years earliér.

In sum, Plaintiff could have pled in the altative, or kept her Sufipr of Choice claims
alive in some other manner in her AC, but slid not do so. Rather, she abandoned those
claims, letting them lie dormant until the statof limitations had run. For these reasons, the
Court finds that Plaintiff's @ims arising out of the Supplier of Choice Program have been
abandoned, and cannot relate back to the OC.

3. The Supplier of Choice Claims and the Sullivan Release

In addition to dismissing Plaintiff's Supplief Choice claims on the basis that they have
been abandoned and fall outside #pplicable statute of limiians period, the Court may not
consider Plaintiff's Supplier of Choice atas because they are barred by the Sullredease,
should the settlement remain in efféttThe Sullivarrelease states that the “Released Parties
shall be released and forever discharged fragnand all claims . . . concerning . . . (iii)

methods of distribution or sliribution programs of any Diamond Product (including but not

limited to the Supplier of Choice programcluding all means of selling or distributing any

Diamond Product. . . .” Am. Settlement Agreet®V(A) (emphasis added). Notwithstanding

° It is true that courts have found that a second amended complaint can relate back to an original
complaint. _Se@rescott v. AnnettdNo. 09 Civ. 4435, 2010 WL 3020023, at *6 (S.D.N.Y. July 22, 2010)
(McMahon, J.) (finding that the Section 1983 claimglaintiff's first and second amended complaints
are not time-barred because they relate battkg@riginal complaint); DeLong v. Soufigri¢o. 05 cv.
5529, 2010 WL 234781, at §&€.D.N.Y. Jan. 14, 2010) (“[T]he Court finds that all but two causes of
action alleged in the Second Amended Complaint arelyitmecause they relatadk to the filing of the
original Complaint.”). Howevelin those decisions, there wassuggestion that the plaintiff had
abandoned any set of claims in an intervening complaint, or that the plaintiff's original complaint
contained a different operative set of facttlthe subsequent amended complaints.

19 sSee supraote 4.
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the Release’s explicit reference to “distriloutiprograms of any Diamond Product (including but
not limited to the Supplier of Choice program),aiptiff contends thather Supplier of Choice
claims fall within the exception to the Releasedwect purchaser claim# Sightholders. See

id. 8 V(A) (“Nothing in the Settlement is interdi¢éo release any direptirchaser claim of any
Sightholder.”)!*

Plaintiff's own characterization of her Supplof Choice claimsnakes clear that her
claims do_nofall within the exception for “any diregurchaser claims of any Sightholder.”
According to Plaintiff, the Supier of Choice program “resulted closing most of the U.S.
Rough Diamond Market to plaintiff.” (SAC { 120Blaintiff’'s Supplier of Choice claims are
thus_notbased on any injury that W.B. David suffdras a result of purchasing diamonds from

Defendant as a Sightholder; rather, they are based on the injury W.B. David suffered as a result

of no longer being able to make@ect purchases from Defendarfthrough her Supplier of
Choice claims, therefore, Plaintiff is allegingigmst injury based on thfact that she is no

longer a SightholderBecause those claims do not adsé of direct purchases made as a

Sightholder, they are precluded by the Sullivalease.
4. Conclusion
The Court dismisses Plaintiff's Supplier of Choice claims, finding that they have been

abandoned, fall outside the applicable limias period, and are barred by the Sullivelease?

1 As noted above, the pisgs agree that the Sullivaslease covers all of Plaintiff's claims against
Defendant except any claims arising outwaB. David’s status as a Sightholder. Jese-Milner ) 613
F. Supp. 2d at 409.

12 Defendant also argues that Plaintiff's Supplie€bbice claims must be dismissed because Plaintiff has

(1) failed to allege monopoly power arelevant market; and (2) faileddtiege the willful acquisition or

maintenance of monopoly power, both of which are prerequisites for a Section 2 Sherman Act claim. The
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B. Claims Related to Defendant’s Advertising and Marketing

Plaintiff challenges Defendant’s advertisiagd marketing activity in the United States,
including Defendant’s U.S. Carat Club andfendant’s Millennim Diamonds Campaign
(hereinafter, collectively “advertisirand marketing” claims or activity},as violations of
Section 2 of the Sherman Act. (SAC 1Y 68-9Bhe Court dismisses those claims because they
fall outside the applicable limitations period.

The parties dispute whether Plaintiff's advenigsand marketing claims relate back to the
OCM Plaintiff asserts that relation back igéssible because the G®ntained allegations
regarding Defendant’s advertigg and marketing activitgnd Defendant therefore had adequate
notice of those claims. Plaintiff cites sevgratagraphs throughout the OC referencing those
activities™ Defendant contends that there was majlin the OC to suggest that W.B. David
was challenging Defendant’s advertising and mangedctivity as a basi®r an antitrust claim
because the paragraphs cited by Plaintiff do not challdvageonduct, but rather, tout W.B.

David’s involvement in those aditising and marketing activities.

Court need not address those agreements becaasedismissed Plaintiff's Supplier of Choice claims
under Section 2 of the Sherman Act for other reasons.

13 The De Beers Group used the U.S. Carat Club aydovaeet with U.S. Sightholders, as well as other
large U.S. manufacturers and retailers. (JP&D.) The De Beers Group launched the Millennium
Campaign to sell limited edition diamonds inscribed with the De Beers name. (SAC 1 80.)

14 Plaintiff appears to acknowledge that her adveisind marketing claims must relate back to an

earlier complaint in order for them to be timelyaiRtiff filed her SAC on April 13, 2010. Four years

prior to that date, Plaintiff was admittedly no longer a Sightholder, and so any claims accruing after that
date would be barred by the SullivRelease. Any claims accruing before that date would have had to
have been brought earlier than April 13, 2010.

15 SeeOC 11 165-70, 189, 318, & 331.
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Even assuming that the SAC’s allegatioegarding Defendant’s advertising and
marketing activity arise from the same operative facts as allegations contained in the OC,
Plaintiff's advertising and markeg claims do not relate back to the OC for the same reasons
that Plaintiff’s Supplier of Chee claims do not relate backttee OC: they were abandoned in
the AC.

The AC contains neeference to any facts surraling Defendant’s marketing and
advertising activities. Nor caallegations about an amorphousrld-wide conspiracy with
unidentified entities be read to encompass Bfgadvertising and marketing claims. By not
including these advertising and marketing claimBer AC, Plaintiff conveyed to Defendant that
she had abandoned those claims and made amaitffre litigation decision to no longer pursue a
cause of action for antitrust injury based on thmserative facts. The intervening complaint (the
AC) deprived Defendant of notice with respecPtaintiff's advertisingand marketing claims.

The Court thus finds that these claims do notedback to the OC, and dismisses them as falling
outside the statutef limitations period®*’

C. Claims Related to Agreements between Defendant and Others

Plaintiff asserts that Defendiahorizontally restrainecupply in the U.S. Rough Diamond

Market, in violation of Section 1 of the &man Act, by entering into agreements with

16 plaintiff does not cite specific dates with respect to her advertising and marketing claimSA(SE®
68-79; 92-94.) In the event that the Sullissttlement is vacated, Plafiiis granted leave to replead

any claims surrounding Defendant’s advertising antketang activity that are timely as measured from
the SAC (accounting for the fact that the Court hasdothat Plaintiff’'s advertising and marketing claims
in the SAC do not relate back to the OC).

" Defendant also argues that Plaintiff's advemtisitnd marketing claims must be dismissed because
Plaintiff has (1) failed to allege monopoly power in evant market and (2) failed to allege the willful
acquisition or maintenance of monopoly power, botivlith are prerequisites for a Section 2 Sherman
Act claim. The Court need not address those arguments because it has dismissed Plaintiff's advertising
and marketing claims under Section 2led Sherman Act for other reasons.
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ALROSA, a Russian diamond mining company and a competitor of the De Beers Group. (SAC
11 35-47.) Plaintiff also assertatiDefendant vertically restrainéde, in violation of Section
1 of the Sherman Act, by (1) entering into ailment agreements with DCBM, a member of the
De Beers Group; and (2) entering into salesegents with the Government of Botswana.
(SAC 11 48-62.) For the reasons tfudibw, these claims are dismissed.
1. DBCM

Plaintiff's claims regarding a conspirabgtween Defendant and DBCM—or any other
member of the De Beers Group—fail as a mattéawf As the Court has held earlier, “[i]n
order to state a claim pursudatSection 1 [of the Sherman Acthe SAC must name [at] least
one, specific, non-De Beers entihat is allegedly acting in coart with Diamond Trading . . . .
The SAC's failure to do so means that it wontit survive a Rule 12(b)(6) motion to dismiss.”

Tese-Milner llat 32. _See alsGopperweld Corp. v. Independence Tube Celp7 U.S. 752,

777 (1984) (holding that a paresdmpany and subsidiary areapable of conspiring for

purposes of Section 1 Sherman Aletims); Gucci v. Gucci Shops, In651 F. Supp. 194, 196

(S.D.N.Y. 1986) (Conned.) (applying Copperweltb sister corporationsN. Atl. Utils., Inc. v.

Keyspan Corp.307 A.D. 2d 342, 343 (App. Div. 2003) (applying Copperviel®onnelly Act
claims). Accordingly, Plaintiff's claims invaing an alleged conspiradetween Defendant and
one or more members of the De Beers Group are dismissed.
2. ALROSA
In the SAC, Plaintiff alleges that a 208dpply agreement between De Beers Centenary
A.G. (“DBCAG”) and ALROSA constitutes a horizontastraint of trade in violation of Section
1 of the Sherman Act. (SAC | 38.) Plainsffserts that “Diamond ading and other members

of the De Beers Group conspired with DBCAGd ALROSA to fix prices and control the
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supply of rough diamonds in the U.S. Rouglamond Market through the Alrosa agreement.”
(SAC 1 40.)

Although the ALROSA agreememnias mentioned in the Ot the AC did not contain a
single reference to ALROSA or tmy sales agreement with ALROSK it had, the Court, in its
February 24, 2010 opinion, might haleeind that certain parts of the AC related back to the OC.
However, like Plaintiff’'s Supplier of Choiceatins and her advertising and marketing claims,
the Court finds that the ALROSA claims wexreandoned in the AC. The Defendant did not
have notice of those claimstine three years between the AC and the SAC, and so relation back
is not permissible.

Moreover, even assuming, arquenttat the ALROSA claims were nabandoned in the
AC, the SAC fails to identify Defendant as atgdo the 2001 agreement with ALROSA. See
SAC 1 38 (describing the December 17 2001 agea¢rs “entered into by DBCAG [De Beers
Centenary AG] and Alrosa”). Rather, the SA@htains the broad assien that, through the
2001 agreement between ALROSA and DBCAGigtbond Trading and other members of the
De Beers Group conspired with DBCAG and Alrés&ontrol the supply of rough diamonds.”
(SAC 1 40.) Finally, the SAC suggests tha #LROSA agreement never went into effect,
stating that it “was reviewed and ultitely rejected by the European Commission as
anticompetitive.” (SAC 1  38; 47; see aldef. Mem. at 9 n.5.)

3. Botswana

18 SeeOC 1 232-35 (Section titled “De Beers Agreetveith ALROSA—De Beers Increases its Rough
Diamond Market Control”).
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In the SAC, Plaintiff challenges sales@gments, dated 2001 and 2005, between various
members of the De Beers Group dind Government of Botswan®&laintiff states that, pursuant
to those agreements, “the government of Botewagreed to sell e Beers all diamonds
mined in Botswana by [] Debswana, the jointtee between the governnieof Botswana and
[] Deliebs, a company registered in the BhtMirgin Island and owned by DBSA [De Beers
S.A.]." (SAC 1 55.)

The 2005 agreement with Botswana post-sl&teB. David’'s time as a Sightholder.
Accordingly, claims relating to that agreement are barred by the SuRiekase. SeEese-
Milner 1, 613 F. Supp. 2d at 409 (“The pastagree that the settlemdintits Plaintiff's claims
in the instant case to those based on W.Rid®purchases as a Sightholder . . 1*").

With respect to the 2001 agreement, neitherOC nor the AC contains any mentimin
the Government of Botswana or Debswana. Bfadoes not dispute thiact, but rather, asserts
that the allegations regarding Botswana thaf@uad in the SAC “arise outf the same type of
conduct, the formation of sales agreementaamtain Defendant’s dominance in the rough
diamond market, as that which walkeged in the Original Complaifi (Pl. Supp. Br. at 6 n.2.)
Although Plaintiff is seemingly alluding to the GCGeference to the ALROSA agreement, that
reference would not have put Defendant on naifcan alleged conspiracy with an entirely
different entity that was not mentioned in the OGnathe AC. For these reasons, the SAC’s
allegations concerning a 2001 agreement with tree@iment of Botswana do not relate back to

the OC.

9|n the event that the Sullivasettlement is vacated, Plaintiffgsanted leave to replead any claims
surrounding Defendant’s 2005 agreemeithwthe Government of Botswana.
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4. Conclusion
For the foregoing reasons, Plaintiff's claims regarding agreements between Defendant
and DBCM, Defendant and ALROSA, and Defemidand the Government of Botswana are
dismissed?

D. Plaintiff's Remaining Claims

Plaintiff also brings claims facombination and conspiracy testrain trade in violation
of the Wilson Act, 15 U.S.C. § 8, and for condtdion and conspiracy tmonopolize and restrain
trade in violation of the Donnelly Acl.Y. Gen. Bus. Law § 340. (SAC 11 151-161.)

Plaintiff's claim under the Wilson Act is sinissed on the same grounds as her Sherman

Act claims. _Seddunt v. Mobil Oil Corp, 550 F.2d 68, 75 n.8 (2d Cir. 1977) (“In so far as the

substantive antitrust provision$ the Wilson Tariff Act are@ncerned, they follow the same

pattern as the Sherman Act.”) (citing United States v. Cooper,Gdp»U.S. 600, 608 (1941).)
Plaintiff's claim under the Donnelly Act elso dismissed. The Donnelly Act “was
closely patterned after the Sherman Act argllie®en narrowly construed to encompass only

those causes of action falling within the Shan Act.” Gatt Commc’n, Inc. v. PMC Assoc.,

L.L.C., No. 10 Civ. 8, 2011 WL 1044898, at *4 (S.D.NMar. 10, 2011) (Batts, J.) (citations

omitted); see alsGreat Atl. & Pac. Tea Co., Inc. v. Town of East Hamp88¥ F. Supp. 340,

2 Defendant also argues that Plaintiff's SectloBherman Act claims related to the ALROSA and
Botswana agreements are barred by the Act of Statéranavhich “precludes the courts in this country
from inquiring into the validity of the public actsecognized foreign sovereign power committed within
its own territory.” _Banco N#onal de Cuba v. Sabbatin876 U.S. 398, 400 (1964); O.N.E. Shipping

LTD v. Flota Mercante Grancolombiana, S.830 F.2d 449, 453-54 (2d Cir. 1987) (affirming dismissal
of antitrust claims on Act of State grounds). Defendant further argues that Plaintiff's Sherman Act
Section 1 claims must be dismissed because Plaiasffailed to allege a plausible relevant market and
has failed to show how Defendant restrained compatitiThe Court need not address Defendant’s Act of
State argument, or any of its additional arguments, because it has dismissed Plaintiff's Sherman Act
Section 1 claims for other reasons.
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352 (E.D.N.Y. 1998) (“The Donnelly Ags patterned after the Sherman Anti-Trust Act. .. and
is generally construed in light of federal precedent.”).
V. Conclusion

For the reasons stated herein, Defetidanotion to dismiss Plaintiff's SAC is
GRANTED.

When a court dismisses a complaint, a “court should freely given leave [to amend]when
justice so requires.” Fed. R. CR. 15(a)(2). Yet, “it is wekstablished that leave to amend a

complaint need not be granted when amendment would be futile.” Richardson v. Dept. of

Corrections of N.Y.$.No. 10 cv. 6137, 2011 WL 4091491, at *5 (S.D.N.Y Sept. 13, 2011)

(Scheindlin, J.) (citations omitted). Here, because Plaintiff's claims have been dismissed, inter
alia, on statute of limitations grounds, the CountdB that any amended complaint would be
futile.

However, in the event that the Sullivegttiement is vacated, Riéff is granted leave to

replead (1) any claims surrounding Defendaatigertising and markieg activity that are

timely as measured from the SAC (accountinglie fact that Plaiiff's advertising and
marketing claims in the SAC do not relate baxkhe OC), and (2) any claims related to
Defendant’s 2005 agreement with the Governme®atéwana. In addition, in its February 24,
2010 opinion, the Court dismissed Plaintiff'siantagainst defendant Diamdel N.V. “without

prejudice to refile if the Sullivanlass action settlemeis not finalized.** Tese-Milner I at 5

n.1.

% The Court noted however, “that Plaintiff [could] assert against Diamdel N.V. only claims that accrued
on or after the date on which the Amended Complaint was filed.” Tese-Mijrar3in.1.
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The Clerk of Court is directed to close the docket in this matter.

The parties shall info;ln the Court within ninety days whether the Sullivan settlement
agreement has been vacated.
SO ORDERED.

Dated: New York, New York
September M , 2011

(Uiien VWi LEVE
Kimba M. Wood
United States District Judge
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